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Directors’ report
The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2016.
Principal activities
The company’s principal activity, which is unchanged since last year, is the ownership and management
of 'The Point Shopping Mall'.
Review of the business
The directors are pleased to report that The Point Shopping Mall has registered yet another positive year
for the seventh consecutive year since its opening. In the context of a highly competitive market, tenant
sales have nonetheless registered an increase over 2015. This increase, on the back of a fully occupied
mall and robust footfall, has had a positive effect on total revenue and has strengthened the financial
results of the company. The directors are pleased to report that the company’s EBITDA increased to €5.3
million (2015: €5.2 million), while profit after tax for the current financial year exceeded the result projected
in the initial public offering prospectus by 36.8% (2015: 22.2%).
In the year ended 31 December 2016, the company registered a profit before tax of €3.1 million as
compared to a profit before tax of €2.9 million in 2015. The company’s vision is to be the best ownermanager of retail property in Malta. The company continues to embrace a business strategy based on
providing a compelling retail destination, developing and maintaining strong relationships with tenants,
housing an iconic mix of brands, delivering long term, sustainable growth in net rental income and
generating returns for shareholders.
The Financial Risk Management note in the Financial Statements (Note 2) explains the process of how
the Board identifies and manages its financial risks. The main categories of risk described in this Note are
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The same note includes extensive detail of the processes
undertaken by the company to manage these risks.
At 31 December 2016, the company’s current assets exceeded its current liabilities by €97k (2015:
deficiency of €425k). The company has managed to address the deficiency during the course of the year
through a programme of active liquidity management. This has also enabled the company to anticipate its
bank repayment commitments. As at December 2016, the Company’s total bank borrowings as a
percentage of total assets amounted to 31% (2015: 33%).
The Directors expect that the level of activity in 2017 will continue at current levels.
The Statement of Compliance with the Principle of Good Corporate Governance and RemNom Committee
Report in this Annual Report, describes other non-financial key performance indicators relevant to the
Company, including information relating to employee matters.
Results and dividends
The financial results are set out on page 26. During the year a distribution of €1,410,000 was made to the
shareholders in accordance with what was prospected in the initial public offering document covering the
final dividend attributable to 2015 amounting to €705,000 and an interim dividend in 2016 of €705,000.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Directors recommend the payment of a final net
dividend of €705,000 in relation to 2016 financial results.
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Directors’ report – continued
Directors
The Directors of the company who held office during the current financial year were:
Joseph Zammit Tabona
David Demarco
Marzena Formosa
Alicia Agius Gatt (appointed 24 June 2016)
Muriel Rutland (appointed 24 June 2016)
Anthony Scicluna (resigned on 24 June 2016)
Geoffrey L. Brooks (resigned on 24 June 2016)
In accordance with the company’s articles of association, the directors retire from office at the Annual
General Meeting and are eligible for re-election or re-appointment.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
The directors are required by the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) to prepare financial statements
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of each reporting period
and of the profit or loss for that period.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for:





ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances;
ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business as a going concern.

The Directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and the fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The financial statements of Tigné Mall p.l.c. for the year ended 31 December 2016 are included in the
Annual Report 2016, which is published in hard-copy printed form and may be made available on the
company’s website. The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Annual Report
on the website in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the security of, the website.
Access to information published on the company’s website is available in other countries and
jurisdictions, where legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from requirements or practice in Malta.
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:




the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at 31
December 2016, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
on the basis explained in note 1 to the financial statements; and
the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development of the business and the position of
the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Company face.
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Directors’ report - continued
Information pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64
Structure of Capital
The company has an authorised share capital of 60,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.50 each and issued
and fully paid up share capital of 56,400,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of €0.50 each. The
Ordinary Shares rank pari passu amongst each other for all purposes. Each Ordinary Share is entitled to
one vote. There are currently no different classes of Ordinary Shares in the company and accordingly all
Ordinary Shares have the same rights, voting rights and entitlements in connection with any distribution
whether of dividends or capital (on a winding up or otherwise). All the shares are freely transferable and
have been admitted to trading on the Malta Stock Exchange.
Appointment and removal of Directors
Article 95 of the company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association states that at each Annual General
Meeting of the company all the Directors shall retire from office. A Director retiring from office shall retain
office until the dissolution of such Meeting and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election or reappointment. The Directors shall be elected as provided in Article 99 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association that is a maximum of 5 Directors shall be elected at each Annual General Meeting (or at an
Extraordinary General Meeting convened for the purpose of electing Directors). Voting shall take place on
the basis that every Member shall have 1 vote in respect of each ordinary share held by him. A Member
may use all his votes in favour of one candidate or may split his votes in any manner he chooses amongst
any two or more candidates. The Chairman of the Meeting shall declare elected those candidates who
obtain the greater number of votes on that basis. The company’s Articles of Association contain a
provision whereby the Directors are entitled to appoint additional directors to the Board where this would
be to the benefit of the company in view of their commercial knowledge and experience.
Powers of Directors
The Directors are empowered to act on behalf of the company and in this respect have the authority to
enter into contracts, sue and be sued in representation of the company. In terms of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association they may transact all business of whatever nature not expressly reserved by the
Memorandum and Articles of Association to the shareholders in general meeting or by any provision
contained in any law for the time being in force.
General Meetings
The company shall in each year hold a General Meeting as its Annual General Meeting in addition to any
other meetings in that year and not more than 15 months shall elapse between the date of one Annual
General Meeting of the company and that of the next. All general meetings other than Annual General
Meetings shall be called Extraordinary General Meetings. The Directors may, whenever they think fit,
convene an Extraordinary General Meeting and Extraordinary General Meetings shall also be convened
on such requisition, or, in default, may be convened by such requisitionists as provided by the Companies
Act. Any two Members of the company may convene an Extraordinary General Meeting in the same
manner as nearly as possible as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors.
A General Meeting of the company shall be called by not less than 21 days’ notice in writing. The notice
shall be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served and of the day for which it is
given and shall specify the place, the day and the hour of meeting, the proposed agenda for the Meeting
and in case of special business, the general nature of the business to be considered as well as other
information. A notice calling an Annual General Meeting shall specify the meeting as such and a notice
convening a meeting to pass an Extraordinary Resolution as the case may be shall specify the intention to
propose the resolution as such and the principal purpose thereof. A notice of General Meeting called to
consider extraordinary business shall be accompanied by a statement regarding the effect and scope of
any proposed resolution in respect of such extraordinary business.
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Directors’ report - continued
Information pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64 - continued

Any Member or Members holding not less than 5% in nominal value of all the shares entitled to vote at the
meeting may:
(a) request the company to include items on the agenda of the General Meeting, provided that each
item is accompanied by a justification or a draft resolution to be adopted at the Annual General
Meeting; and
(b) table draft resolutions for items included in the agenda of a General Meeting. The request to put
items on the agenda of the General Meeting or the tabling of draft resolutions to be adopted at the
General Meeting shall be submitted to the company (in hard copy or in electronic form to an email
address provided by the company for the purpose) at least 46 days before the date set for the General
Meeting to which it relates and shall be authenticated by the person or persons making it.
An “Ordinary Resolution” means a resolution taken at a General Meeting of the company passed by a
Member or Members having the right to attend and vote at such meeting holding in the aggregate more
than 50% in nominal value of the shares represented and entitled to vote at the meeting. An
“Extraordinary Resolution” means a resolution taken at a General Meeting of the Company of which notice
specifying the intention to propose the text of the resolution as an extraordinary resolution and the
principal purpose thereof has been duly given and passed by a number of Members having the right to
attend and vote at such meeting holding in the aggregate not less than 75% in nominal value of the
shares represented and entitled to vote at the meeting and at least 51% in nominal value of all the shares
entitled to vote at the meeting.

Directors’ interests in the company’s share capital
The company’s Directors do not have any direct or indirect interests in the share capital of the Company.

Registered Shareholders with 5% or more of the Company’s share capital
As at 31 December 2016
Ordinary
% Holding
Shares

As at 5 April 2017
Ordinary
% Holding
Shares

Mapfre MSV Life p.l.c.

20,000,000

35.46%

20,000,000

35.46%

HSBC Bank Malta plc as Custodian for
HSBC Life Assurance (Malta) Ltd.

11,260,000

19.96%

11,260,000

19.96%

Bank of Valletta p.l.c.

9,434,367

16.73%

9,426,767

16.71%

Other matters
The company has nothing to report in relation to the requirements of Listing Rules 5.64.4, 5.64.5, 5.64.6,
5.64.7 and 5.64.10 since they do not apply to the company. Information relating to the requirements of
Listing Rule 5.64.11 is reflected in the RemNom Report on page 16.
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Directors’ report - continued
Information pursuant to Listing Rule 5.64 - continued
Going Concern
The Directors, as required by Listing Rule 5.62 have considered the company’s operational performance,
the statement of financial position as at year-end as well as the business plans for the coming year, and
they have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, in preparing the financial statements, they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their
re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Joseph Zammit Tabona
Chairman

David Demarco
Director

Registered office:
The Point Shopping Mall
Management Suite
Tigné Point
Sliema TP01
Malta

6 April 2017
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance
A.

INTRODUCTION

Tigné Mall p.l.c. (the “Company”) is required to include a statement of compliance with the Code of
Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 5.1 of the Listing Rules
issued by the Malta Financial Services Authority. This statement is made in terms of Listing Rules 5.94
and 5.97.
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) believes that the adoption of these principles is in the best interest of
the Company, its shareholders and other stakeholders, since compliance with the Code is expected by
investors on the Malta Stock Exchange and further evidences the Directors' and the Company's
commitment to a high standard of corporate governance.
Good corporate governance is the responsibility of the Board, and in this regard, the Board has carried
out a review of the Company’s compliance with the Code. It has taken measures for the Company to
comply with the requirements of the Code to the extent that this is considered appropriate and
complementary to the size, nature and operations of the Company. Notwithstanding the fact that the
Principles of Good Corporate Governance are not mandatory, the Board has endorsed them and ensured
their adoption, save as indicated within the section entitled Non-Compliance with Code where the Board
indicates and explains the instances where it has departed from or where it has not applied the Code.

B.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE

Principle 1: The Board
The Directors believe that for the period under review the Company has complied with the requirements of
this principle.
The overall management and policy setting of the Company is vested in the Board consisting of a
Chairman and four (4) Directors. The Board has provided the necessary leadership in the overall
direction of the Company and at the same time has adopted systems whereby it obtains timely information
from the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) to ensure an open dialogue between the CEO and Directors
on an ongoing basis and not only at meetings of the Board.
All the Directors, individually and collectively, are of the appropriate calibre and have the necessary skills
and experience to contribute effectively to the decision-making process. The Board delegates specific
responsibilities to a number of committees, notably the Supervisory Committee, the Audit Committee and
the RemNom Committee, each of which operates under formal terms of reference approved by the Board.
Principle 2: Chairman and Chief Executive
In line with the requirements of Principle 2, the Company has segregated the functions of the Chairman
and the CEO. The Chairman is responsible to lead the Board and to set its agenda, ensuring that the
Board’s discussions on any issue put before it go into adequate depth, encouraging the involvement of all
Directors, and ensuring that all the Board’s decisions are supported by precise, timely and objective
information. The Chairman, together with the Supervisory Committee, ensures that the CEO implements
the strategy that is agreed to by the Board.
These positions have been defined with specific roles rendering them completely separate from one
another and are occupied by Mr. Joseph Zammit Tabona and Mr. Edwin Borg respectively.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

B.

Principle 2: Chairman and Chief Executive - continued
The Board has delegated specific authority to the CEO to manage activities within the Company which
include, amongst others:




Implementation of policies as set by the Board;
Working towards objectives established by the Board;
Putting into effect plans to organise, direct and manage the human resources available to attain
the highest possible profitability and results in the interest of the Company’s shareholders and all
other stakeholders.

The role of the CEO is to plan, co-ordinate and control the daily operations of the Company through the
leadership and direction of the Company’s human resources. The CEO reports regularly to the
Supervisory Committee and the Board on the performance and affairs of the Company.
Together with the Chairman of the Board, the CEO represents the Company with third parties.
Principle 3: Composition of the Board
The size of the Board, whilst not being large as to be unwieldy, is appropriate for the requirements of the
Company’s business and conducive to good corporate governance. The combined and varied knowledge,
experience and skills of the Board members provides a robust framework for efficient decision-making,
supports the effective control and management of the Company’s affairs and contributes to the functioning
of the Board and its direction to the Company. The Board is composed entirely of non-executive
Directors, comprising independent non-executives, each of whom is able to add value and to bring
independent judgement to bear on the decision-making process.
The CEO attends all Board meetings, albeit without a vote, providing direct input into the Board’s
deliberations and gaining in-depth understanding of the Board’s policy and strategy in the process.
The following Directors served on the Board during the period under review:
Chairman
Mr. Joseph Zammit Tabona
Non-Executive Directors
David Demarco
Marzena Formosa
Alicia Agius Gatt (appointed 24 June 2016)
Muriel Rutland (appointed 24 June 2016)
Anthony Scicluna (resigned on 24 June 2016)
Geoffrey L. Brooks (resigned on 24 June 2016)
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

B.

Principle 3: Composition of the Board - continued
Pursuant to generally accepted practice, as well as the Company’s Articles of Association, the
appointment of Directors to the Board is reserved to the Company’s shareholders, except in so far as an
appointment is made to fill a vacancy on the Board, or the Board is of the opinion that it would be of
benefit to the Company if additional Directors are appointed in view of their commercial knowledge and
experience. Unless appointed for a shorter period, a Director shall hold office from the end of one Annual
General Meeting to the end of the next and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election or reappointment.
Every shareholder owning twenty per cent (20%) of the ordinary share capital is entitled to appoint one
director for each twenty per cent (20%) shareholding. Furthermore, any excess fractional shareholding
not so utilised may participate in the voting for the election of other directors. Shareholders who own less
than twenty per cent (20%) of the ordinary share capital participate in the election of the Directors on the
basis that each shareholder shall have one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. The Chairman is
elected by a simple majority from amongst the Directors of the Company.
Principle 4: The Responsibilities of the Board
In fulfilling its mandate within the terms of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the
Board of Directors assumes responsibility to:
a) establish corporate governance standards;
b) review, evaluate and approve the business plan and targets submitted by management and work
with management towards their successful implementation;
c) identify the principal business risks for the Company and oversee the implementation and
monitoring of appropriate risk management systems;
d) ensure that effective internal control systems are in place and review their effectiveness;
e) review, evaluate and approve the overall corporate organisation structure, the assignment of
management responsibilities, the performance of senior management and plans for senior
management development including succession planning;
f) review, evaluate and approve compensation strategy for senior management;
g) review periodically the Company’s objectives and policies relating to social, health and safety and
environmental responsibilities; and
h) ensure that the Company has in place a policy that enables it to communicate effectively with
shareholders, stakeholders and the public in general.
The Board supervises compliance with the Listing Rules, including those pertaining to the preparation and
publication of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. It approves the Financial Statements for
submission to the General Meeting of the shareholders and accordingly retains direct responsibility for
approving and monitoring:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

the Business Plan for the Company;
the Annual Financial Plans including capital budgets;
the Annual Financial Statements;
proposals to increase the issued capital and to materially increase or decrease the
Company’s funding; and
other resolutions which the Board may determine to be subjected to its approval from time to
time.

Any meeting that a Director wishes to initiate may be arranged through the Company Secretary. A
Director of the Company has access to the advice from internal and external sources which are deemed
necessary for carrying out the respective roles and responsibilities and the Company will bear the related
expenses.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
B.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

Principle 5: Board Meetings
The Board of Directors meets at least every quarter and on any other occasion as may be necessary.
Further to attending formal Board meetings, individual Directors participate in other ad hoc meetings
during the year as may be required. They are also active in Board sub-committees, either to assure good
corporate governance or to contribute to the Company’s decision-making process. Board meetings are
presided over by the Chairman and all Directors are allowed equal opportunity to voice and express their
views on matters relating to the Company and its business.
Seven meetings of the Board of Directors were held during 2016 and attendance was as follows:
Board member

Attended

Joseph Zammit Tabona
Geoffrey L. Brooks
David Demarco
Marzena Formosa
Anthony Scicluna
Alicia Agius Gatt
Muriel Rutland

7 (out of 7)
2 (out of 3)
7 (out of 7)
7 (out of 7)
3 (out of 3)
4 (out of 4)
3 (out of 4)

Principle 6: Information and Professional Development
The CEO is appointed by the Board and enjoys its full support and confidence. The recruitment and
selection of senior management is the responsibility of the CEO in consultation with the Board. Likewise,
the CEO consults with the Board on matters relating to succession planning for senior management within
the Company. The Board considers and discusses succession planning measures at all senior
management levels taking into account the size and depth of the management team of the Company, with
reliance on a limited number of officers.
Newly appointed Directors are provided with briefings by the CEO, the Company Secretary and also by
other members of management in respect to the operations of the Company. A comprehensive
information pack is handed over to a new Director following his appointment and this usually incorporates
the Memorandum and Articles of the Company, relevant legislation as well as rules and regulations. The
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary who is responsible for
ensuring that Board procedures are adhered to. Additionally, Directors may seek independent
professional advice on any matter at the Company’s expense.
The Company ensures the personal development of Directors, management and employees by
recommending attendance to seminars, conferences as well as training programmes that are designed to
help improve the potential of its staff members whilst furthering the Company’s competitiveness.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
B.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

Principle 7: Evaluation of Board’s Performance
During the year under review, the Board carried out an evaluation of its own performance together with
that of the Committees, the Chairman, the individual Directors and the CEO. Under the direction of the
Chairperson of the RemNom Committee, the evaluation process for the Board was conducted through a
comprehensive board effectiveness questionnaire, the results of which were discussed by the
Chairperson of the RemNom Committee and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The review has not
resulted in any material changes in the Company’s internal organisation or in its governance structures.
Principle 8: Committees
The Board has appointed the following Committees:
Audit Committee
For the year under review, the Audit Committee was composed of three non-executive Directors and had
the following members:
Up to 24 June 2016, the Committee had the following members:
Mr Anthony Scicluna (Chairman of the Committee – resigned 24 June 2016)
Mr Geoffrey L. Brooks (resigned 24 June 2016)
Ms. Marzena Formosa
As from 24 June 2016, the Committee had the following members:
David Demarco (Chairman of the Committee)
Alicia Agius Gatt (appointed 24 June 2016)
Muriel Rutland (appointed 24 June 2016)
In terms of Listing Rule 5.118, Mr Anthony Scicluna F.I.A, C.P.A. (for the period up to 24 June 2016) and
Mr David Demarco (as from 24 June 2016), respectively, are the Directors whom the Board considers as
competent in accounting and auditing. Mr Anthony Scicluna was an independent non-executive Director
and is considered independent because he is free from any significant business, family or other
relationship with the Company or its management that may create a conflict of interest such as to impair
his judgement. The Board believes that Mr David Demarco is independent, in the context of the meaning
of the code as explained in this Statement. Furthermore, Mr Demarco is also competent in accounting in
terms of the Listing Rules having previously and currently occupying senior positions with banking and
other financial institutions.
For the purpose of Code Provision 3.2, the Board considers each of the other non-executive Directors as
independent within the meaning of the Code, notwithstanding their positions of senior executive officers
within other entities that are shareholders of the company.
The Audit Committee is a committee appointed by the Board and is directly responsible and accountable
to the Board. The Audit Committee’s primary purpose is to:
(a) protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders; and
(b) assist the Directors in conducting their role effectively so that the Company’s decision-making
capability and the accuracy of its reporting and financial results are maintained at a high level at all
times.
The Board has set formal terms of reference for the Audit Committee that establish its composition, role
and function. The Board may change these terms of reference from time to time.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
B.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

Principle 8: Committees - continued
The main role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:
(a) to inform the Board of Directors of the outcome of the statutory audit and to explain how the statutory
audit contributed to the integrity of the Financial Statements and what the role of the audit committee
was in this process;
(b) to monitor the financial reporting process and to submit recommendations of proposals to ensure its
integrity;
(c) to monitor the effectiveness of the company’s internal quality control and risk managements system
and, where applicable, its internal audit regarding the financial reporting without breaching its
independence;
(d) to monitor the audit of the annual and consolidated financial statements, in particular, its performance,
taking into account any findings and conclusions by the competent authority pursuant to Article 26 (6)
of the Statutory Audit Regulation
(e) to review the additional report prepared by the statutory auditors or audit firm submitted to the Audit
Committee in terms of Article 11 of the Statutory Audit Regulation. The Audit Committee may disclose
the additional report to third parties in order to execute its functions in line with the terms of reference;
(f) to review and monitor the independence of the statutory auditors or audit firms in accordance with
Articles 22, 22a, 22b, 24a and 24b of the Directive 2006/43/EC on statutory audits of annual accounts
and consolidated accounts, amending Council Directive 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC and repealing
Council Directive 84/253/EEC and Article 6 of the Statutory Audit Regulation and in particular the
appropriateness of the provision of non-audit services to the audited entity in accordance with Article
5 of the Statutory Audit regulation;
(g) the responsibility for the procedure for the selection of statutory auditors or audit firms;
(h) to recommend the statutory auditors or the audit firm to be appointed in accordance with Article 16 of
the Statutory Audit Regulation;
(i) to review the Company’s internal financial control system and, unless addressed by a separate risk
committee or the Board itself, risk management systems; and
(j) reviewing the organisation of the internal audit function of the Company, including its plans, activities,
staffing and organisational structure.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
B.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

Principle 8: Committees - continued
The Audit Committee met formally four times. The CEO, the Financial Controller and the External
Auditors were invited to attend relevant parts of such meetings. Attendance at the meetings was as
follows:
Board member

Attended

Anthony Scicluna (resigned 24 June 2016)
Geoffrey L. Brooks (resigned 24 June 2016)
Marzena Formosa
David Demarco
Alicia Agius Gatt (appointed 24 June 2016)
Muriel Rutland (appointed 24 June 2016)

2 (out of 2)
2 (out of 2)
2 (out of 2)
2 (out of 2)
2 (out of 2)
2 (out of 2)

Supervisory Committee
The Board delegates specified authority and accountability for the Company to the Supervisory
Committee, which is composed of Ms. Marzena Formosa (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr. David
Demarco and Mr. Edwin Borg. The Supervisory Committee supervises the management of the Company,
to ensure the attainment of its strategy and objectives.
The Supervisory Committee typically meets every month and the terms of reference of the Committee
envisage the execution of policy matters delegated by the Board to ensure the attainment of the
Company’s objectives.
RemNom Committee
A separate “RemNom Committee Report” features elsewhere in the Annual Report in compliance with the
relevant Code provisions of the Principles of Good Corporate Governance.
Principle 9 & 10: Relations with Shareholders and with the Market, and Institutional Investors
The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a dialogue with its shareholders and of keeping
the market informed to ensure that its strategies and performance are well understood. In the Board’s
view, the Company communicates effectively with shareholders by issuing two bi-annual Shareholders’
newsletters, publishing its results on a six-monthly basis during the year, by way of half yearly and annual
reports and financial statements, through Interim Directors’ Statements, through periodical Company
Announcements and through press releases in the local media to the market in general. The financial
results are available on the Company’s website www.thepointmalta.com, in the Investors Relations
Section. Within seven months of the end of the financial year, the annual general meeting of the
Shareholders is convened to consider the annual financial statements, the Directors’ and Auditors’ reports
for the year, to decide on any dividends recommended by the Board, to elect Directors, appoint auditors
and to set their respective remuneration. A presentation is given by the CEO of the Company showing
how the Company operated in the light of prevailing economic and market conditions, and an assessment
on future prospects is given. More information on Annual General Meetings is disclosed in the Directors’
Report.
The Chairman arranges for all Directors to attend the Annual General Meeting. As outlined below, the
Board has adopted rules whereby directors having conflicts of interest on any matters being discussed at
Board level disclose the conflict in a timely manner to the Board and the Director so conflicted will not be
allowed to vote on such matters.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

B.

Principle 11: Conflicts of Interest
The Directors are fully aware of their responsibility to act in the interest of the Company and its
shareholders at all times and of their obligation to avoid conflicts of interest. Such conflicts of interest
affecting Board members may, and do, arise on specific matters from time to time. In these instances, by
virtue of the Memorandum and Articles of Association:




a director is obliged to make full disclosure with respect to any matter where there is a potential or
a real conflict of interest, whether such conflict arises from personal interests or the interests of
the companies in which such person is a director or an officer;
the said director is excused from the meeting and consequently not involved in the Board’s
discussion on the matter; and
the said director does not vote on such matter.

The Memorandum and Articles of Association state that if any question arises at any meeting as to the
materiality of a Director’s interest or as to the entitlement of any Director to vote and such question is not
resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from voting, then such question shall be referred to the
Audit Committee and their ruling shall be final and conclusive.
Potential conflicts of interest may principally arise in relation to the leasing out of retail space and the
procurement of certain services.
In the event of a prospective lease the Chief Executive Officer negotiates with the prospective tenant to
ensure that a superior standard and type of tenant is taken on at the best possible terms and conditions.
The Supervisory Committee is responsible for the supervision of such process. In particular, it is
responsible for approving prospective tenants in principle, assisting and directing the CEO in negotiations
with tenants. Accordingly, leases for retail space within the mall are approved by the Board on the advice
of the Supervisory Committee.
All contracts for goods and services and any other purchases are based upon the principle of competitive
bidding. The CEO negotiates with suppliers in order to ensure that the best quality goods and services are
procured by the Company at the best possible price. The Supervisory Committee is responsible to
supervise such procurement processes by assisting and directing the CEO in negotiations with
contractors, suppliers and service providers.
The Company has also implemented a clear and detailed policy in respect of dealings of Directors in the
Company’s shares, which policy is based on timely and comprehensive disclosures and notices, where
and if applicable in terms of the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee has the task to ensure that any potential conflicts of interest are resolved in the best
interest of the Company.
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE - continued

C.

Principle 12: Corporate Social Responsibility
The Company recognises the importance of its role in the corporate social responsibility (CSR) arena and
works to meet the expectations of the community in this respect. Amongst the initiatives taken during the
year under review, the Company has endeavoured to meet its CSR obligations, in particular through:





its support for fundraising events for charitable institutions;
participation in recognised student-exchange programmes for the benefit of both local and foreign
students;
waste recycling initiatives; and
energy conservation initiatives.

C. NON-COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE
Principle 3: Composition of the Board
The Board is composed entirely of non-executive Directors, including independent non-executives.
However the Board holds the opinion that it is of an adequate size that the balance of skills and
experience is appropriate for the requirements of the Company. The attendance of the CEO at Board
meetings is deemed a sufficiently effective measure to ensure a balance of executive and non-executive
participation.
Principle 4: Succession policy for the future composition of the Board (Code Provision 4.2.7)
The Board notes that pursuant to the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the
appointment of Directors to serve on the Board of Directors is a matter which is entirely reserved to the
shareholders of the Company. Thus, the Board does not consider it practical to develop a succession
policy for the future composition of the Board. However, as indicated in the statement of compliance, all
newly appointed Directors are given an adequate induction course in the operations, activities and
procedures of the Company to be able to carry out the function of a Director in an effective manner. The
Board also notes the emphasis in this Code provision on the executive component of the Board and
points out that the Company’s Board is composed entirely of non-executive members.
Principle 9: Relations with Shareholders and with the Market (Code Provision 9.3)
There are no procedures disclosed in the Company’s Memorandum or Articles as recommended in Code
Provision 9.3, to resolve conflicts between minority shareholders and controlling shareholders. No such
conflicts have arisen during the year under review.

D.
INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL
REPORTING PROCESS
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Company’s system of internal control and risk management
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide a reasonable, as opposed to absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Company operates through the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee with clear
reporting lines and delegation of powers. The Board of Directors has adopted and implemented
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Corporate Governance – Statement of Compliance - continued
D.
INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT IN RELATION TO THE FINANCIAL
REPORTING PROCESS - continued
appropriate policies and procedures to manage risks and internal control. The Supervisory Committee
plans, executes, controls and monitors business operations in order to achieve the set objectives.
The Directors, with the assistance of Management, are responsible for the identification, evaluation and
management of the key risks to which the Company may be exposed. The Company has clear and
consistent procedures in place for monitoring the system of internal financial controls. The Directors also
receive periodic management information giving comprehensive analysis of financial and business
performance including variances against the Company’s set targets. This process is applicable
specifically in relation to the Company’s financial reporting framework.
The Audit Committee reviews and assesses the effectiveness of the internal control systems, including
financial reporting, and determines whether significant internal control recommendations made by the
Auditors have been implemented. The Committee plays an important role in initiating discussions with the
Board with respect to risk assessment and risk management, reviews contingent liabilities and risks that
may be material to the Company.

Joseph Zammit Tabona
Chairman

David Demarco
Director

6 April 2017
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RemNom Committee Report
The Board considers the role and function of the Remuneration Committee and that of the Nomination
Committee as both being important, however in view of the size of the Company, the Board deemed it fit
to merge these two committees into one hereinafter referred to as the RemNom Committee. Up to 24th
June 2016, the Committee was composed of Ms. Marzena Formosa (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr.
David Demarco and Mr. Anthony Scicluna. With effect from 24th June 2016 the Committee was
composed of Ms. Marzena Formosa (Chairperson of the Committee), Dr. Alicia Agius Gatt and Ms. Muriel
Rutland.
Terms of Reference
The RemNom Committee’s terms of reference have been established by the Board.
In its function as Remuneration Committee, the Committee is charged with the oversight of the
remuneration policies implemented by the Company with respect to its Directors, management and
employees. Its objectives are those of deciding a remuneration policy aimed to attract, retain and motivate
Directors as well as senior management with the right qualities and skills for the benefit of the Company. It
is responsible for making proposals to the Board on the individual remuneration packages of Directors
and senior management and is entrusted with monitoring the level and structure of remuneration of the
Directors. The Committee is also required to evaluate, recommend and report on any proposals made by
the CEO relating to executive management remuneration and conditions of service. Moreover, the
Chairperson of the RemNom Committee oversees the self-assessment process of the Board members
referred to earlier on under Principle 7.
In its function as Nomination Committee, the Committee is required to periodically assess the structure,
size, composition and performance of the Board and to highlight any skills or experience that in the
opinion of the Committee are beneficial to the Board and that may currently be missing. It is also
entrusted with managing and reviewing the Board’s policy for the selection and appointment of senior
executives and making recommendations to the Board regarding any changes in this respect, as well as
to consider issues relating to succession planning for senior management.
The function as a Nomination Committee is influenced significantly by the requirements within the
Memorandum and Articles of Association in relation to nomination of Directors. In accordance with the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, shareholders are entitled to submit nominations for
election to the office of Director pursuant to a notice published in at least two (2) daily newspapers.
Shareholders have fourteen (14) days to submit such nominations to the Company. It is the responsibility
of the Nomination Committee to collate information on the persons that are nominated by the
shareholders for election.
The RemNom Committee held three meetings during the period under review and the attendance to the
meetings were as follows:
Member

Attended

Ms. Marzena Formosa (Chairperson)
Mr. David Demarco
Mr. Anthony Scicluna
Dr. Alicia Agius Gatt
Ms. Muriel Rutland

3 (out of 3)
1 (out of 1)
1 (out of 1)
2 (out of 2)
2 (out of 2)

During the period under review the RemNom Committee evaluated the performance of senior
management in respect of financial year 2015 and proposed a bonus payment in line with the Company’s
bonus policy. Furthermore, the Committee set a number of objectives for financial year 2016 for the Chief
Executive Officer and carried out a mid-year evaluation of the progress of the said objectives.
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RemNom Committee Report - continued
It is the Company’s policy to engage its senior management on the basis of indefinite contracts of
employment after a period of probation, rather than on fixed term contracts. Accordingly, the applicable
notice periods, after probation, are those provided for in the relevant legislation. The terms and conditions
of employment of senior management are specified in their respective indefinite contracts of employment.
The Company’s policy is such that none of the Company’s senior management is entitled to any share
options, profit sharing arrangements or pension benefits.
Mr. Edwin Borg (CEO) is entitled to the equivalent of a full year’s pay, as severance payment, should
within three years following a change in control, his employment be terminated by the Company other
than for any of the specific causes set out in the contract of employment or by the executive himself in the
cases set out in the contract.
The individual contracts of employment of the other senior management and staff do not contain
provisions for termination payments and/or other payments linked to early termination other than as may
be applicable in accordance with legal requirements. All employees of the Company are entitled to health
and life insurance, whilst senior management is entitled to reimbursement of telephone expenses. The
CEO and the Financial Controller are entitled to the use of a Company car.
Remuneration payable to senior management during the financial year ended 31 December 2016, which
comprises mainly fixed remuneration as per contractual arrangements, has not been disclosed as the
information is deemed to be commercially sensitive taking into account the fact that the senior
management team is composed of two individuals.
The maximum annual aggregate emoluments payable to the Directors was fixed at €90,000 by the
shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting held on the 24 June 2016. This was set to
reflect the time committed by the Directors to Company affairs, including the different Board committees of
which Directors are members, and their responsibilities in these roles.
Emoluments paid to the non-executive Directors during the current financial year amounted to €68,230,
consisting entirely of fees or fixed remuneration stipulated by reference to agreements or contracts. No
variable remuneration is payable to the non-executive Directors and it is confirmed that none of the
Directors are entitled to profit sharing, share options, pension benefits or any other remuneration.

Marzena Formosa
Chairperson

6 April 2017
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Indepen
ndent au
uditor’s report
To the Sharreholders of Tigné
T
Mall p.l.c.

Report o
on the audit of thee financia
al statements
Our opiniion
In our opiniion:


Mall p.l.c’s fin
nancial state
ements give a true and fa
air view of th
he company’ss financial position
p
as
Tigné M
at 31 D
December 2016, and of th
he company’’s financial performance
p
and cash floows for the year then
ended in accordancee with Intern
national Finaancial Reportting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by
b the EU;
and



nancial statem
ments have been preparred in accorrdance with the requirem
ments of the Maltese
The fin
Compan
nies Act (Cap
p. 386).

What we h
have audite
ed
Tigné Mall p
p.l.c’s financcial statemen
nts, set out on
n pages 25 to
o 50, comprisse:


on as at 31 D
December 2016;
the stattement of financial positio



ome statement and statem
ment of comp
prehensive in
ncome for th
he year then eended;
the inco



the stattement of cha
anges in equiity for the yeear then endeed;



n ended; and
the stattement of cassh flows for the year then



ancial statem
ments, which iinclude a sum
mmary of sig
gnificant accoounting policcies.
the notees to the fina

Basis for opinion
We conduccted our au
udit in acccordance wiith Internattional Stand
dards on A
Auditing (IS
SAs). Our
responsibiliities under th
hose standarrds are furtheer described in the Audittor’s Respons
nsibilities for the Audit
of the Finan
ncial Statements section of our reportt.
We believe tthat the audiit evidence we
w have obtaiined is sufficcient and app
propriate to pprovide a bassis for our
opinion.
Independe
ence
We are ind
dependent off the company in accord
dance with the
t Internatiional Ethics Standards Board for
Accountantts’ Code of Ethics for Professionall Accountan
nts (IESBA Code) togetther with th
he ethical
requiremen
nts of the Acccountancy Profession
P
(C
Code of Eth
hics for Warrrant Holderss) Directive issued in
terms of th
he Accounta
ancy Profession Act (Caap. 281) tha
at are releva
ant to our aaudit of the financial
statements in Malta. We
W have fulfiilled our oth
her ethical reesponsibilities in accord
dance with th
he IESBA
Code.
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Indepen
ndent au
uditor’s report - continued
To the Sharreholders of Tigné
T
Mall p.l.c.

Our auditt approach
h
Overview
Overa
all materialitty: €137,000
0, which rep
presents 5% of the averrage
profit before tax oof the last 3 years.
M
Materiality

Valua
ation of The P
Point Shoppiing Mall
Aud
dit
scop
pe

K
Key audit
matters

As part of d
designing ourr audit, we determined
d
m
materiality an
nd assessed the
t risks of m
material missstatement
in the finan
ncial statemeents. In particular, we con
nsidered where the direc
ctors made su
ubjective jud
dgements;
for examplle, in respecct of signifiicant accoun
nting estima
ates that inv
volved makiing assumpttions and
consideringg future even
nts that are in
nherently un
ncertain. As in
i all of our audits, we al
also addresse
ed the risk
of managem
ment overrid
de of interna
al controls, iincluding am
mong other matters
m
conssideration off whether
there was evvidence of biias that repre
esented a riskk of materiall misstateme
ent due to fraaud.
We tailored
d the scope of
o our audit in
i order to p
perform suffiicient work to enable us tto provide an
a opinion
on the finan
ncial statemeents as a who
ole, taking in
nto account the
t accountin
ng processess and controls, and the
industry in which the co
ompany operrates.
Materialitty
The scope o
of our audit was influen
nced by our aapplication of
o materialitty. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financiaal statements are free
e from maaterial missstatement.
Misstatemeents may ariise due to fraud
f
or errror. They are considere
ed material if individua
ally or in
aggregate, tthey could reeasonably be
e expected too influence the
t economiic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial sta
atements.
Based on o
our professio
onal judgem
ment, we dettermined cerrtain quantiitative thresh
holds for materiality,
m
including th
he overall materiality
m
fo
or the financcial statemen
nts as a who
ole as set ou
ut in the tab
ble below.
These, togeether with qu
ualitative considerationss, helped us to determin
ne the scope of our audiit and the
nature, tim
ming and exttent of our audit proced
dures and to
o evaluate the
t effect off misstateme
ents, both
individuallyy and in aggrregate on the financial staatements as a whole.
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To the Sharreholders of Tigné
T
Mall p.l.c.

materiality
Overall m

€137,000

How we d
determined
d it

5% of the aaverage profiit before tax of the last 3 yyears

Rationale
e for the
materialitty benchma
ark
applied

We chose the average profit beforre tax of the last 3 yearss as the
benchmarkk because, in
i our view
w, it is the bbenchmark against
which thee performan
nce of the company iss most com
mmonly
measured by users, and
d is a genera
ally accepted benchmark.
We chose 55%, which iss within the range
r
of acceeptable quan
ntitative
materialityy thresholds in auditing standards.
s

We agreed with the Aud
dit Committtee that we w
would reportt to them misstatements identified during
d
our
audit abovee €7,000 as well
w as misstatements bellow that amo
ount that, in our view, waarranted rep
porting for
qualitative rreasons.
Key audit matters
Key audit m
matters are th
hose matterss that, in ourr professiona
al judgementt, were of moost significan
nce in our
audit of thee financial sta
atements of the
t current p
period. Thesee matters we
ere addressed
d in the conttext of our
audit of thee financial sta
atements as a whole, and
d in forming our opinion thereon, an
nd we do not provide a
separate op
pinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

How our audit addr
ressed the K
Key audit matter
m

Valuation of The Point Shopping
S
Ma
all
The compan
ny’s main assset, ‘The Poin
nt
Shopping M
Mall’, is show
wn at fair valu
ue based on
a model using discounteed cash flow
projections.. These projeections are ba
ased on a
number of ssignificant un
nobservable inputs.
Further discclosure is inccluded in Note 3
(Critical acccounting estiimates) and Note
N
4
(Property, p
plant and equ
uipment).
The key inp
puts in the un
nderlying cassh flow
projections include Earn
nings before interest,
tax, depreciiation and am
mortisation (EBITDA)
(
that are bassed on contra
acted and pro
ojected
income streeams coverin
ng the remain
ning term
of the sub-eemphyteusis less operatin
ng
expenses, th
he growth rate and discou
unt rate.

We undersstood and eva
aluated the vvaluation mo
odel
supporting
g the value off ‘The Point SShopping Ma
all’.
Our audit procedures
p
included a rev
eview of the
projected financial
f
info
ormation preepared by
managemeent. We agree
ed the projeccted informa
ation to
the relevan
nt inputs in the model, an
nd to the exte
ent
possible, agreed
a
these inputs
i
to thee terms of the
e
current ten
nant rental sc
chedules.
We tested the mathematical accuraacy of the
calculation
ns.
We also en
ngaged our ow
wn in-housee valuation
specialists to critique and
a challengee the key
assumptions used in th
he calculation
ns including the
growth ratte and discou
unt rate, given
n that a marginal
change in one
o of the inputs of the vvaluation hass a
significantt impact on th
he valuation..
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Key audit matter

How our audit addr
ressed the K
Key audit matter
m

We focused
d on this area
a because of the
t
significancee of the carryying value of the ‘The
Point Shopp
ping Mall’ in the Stateme
ent of the
Financial Po
osition of thee company and the
judgementaal nature of th
he assumptio
ons used in
underlying vvaluation mo
odel, such ass the
growth ratee and discoun
nt applied in the same
model.

We concluded, based on
o our audit w
work, that th
he
valuation was
w within a reasonable rrange.
In addition
n, we evaluatted the adequ
uacy of the
disclosuress made in No
otes 3 and 4 oof the financcial
statementss, including those
t
regardiing the key
assumptions.

Other info
ormation
The directo
ors are respo
onsible for th
he other infoormation. Th
he other info
ormation com
mprises the Directors’
report, the C
Corporate Go
overnance Sttatement of C
Compliance and the Rem
mNom Comm
mittee report which we
obtained prrior to the da
ate of this aud
dit report, an
nd:
• The Chairm
man’s messa
age; and
• The Chief Executive Offficer’s Revie
ew.
which are exxpected to bee made availlable to us aft
fter that date.
The other in
nformation does
d
not inclu
ude the finan
ncial statemeents and our auditor’s repport thereon.
Our opinion
n on the fin
nancial statem
ments does not cover th
he other info
ormation, in
ncluding the directors’
report.
In connectio
on with our audit
a
of the financial
f
stattements, ourr responsibiliity is to read the other infformation
identified aabove and, in
n doing so, consider wheether the oth
her informatiion is materiially inconsisstent with
the financiaal statementts or our kno
owledge obtaained in thee audit, or ottherwise apppears to be materially
m
misstated.
With respeect to the diirectors’ rep
port, we alsoo considered
d whether th
he directorss’ report inccludes the
disclosures required by Article 177 of
o the Maltesee Companiess Act (Cap. 38
86).
Based on th
he work we have performe
ed, in our op
pinion:


ormation givven in the dirrectors’ repoort for the fin
nancial year for
f which thee financial sttatements
The info
are prep
pared is conssistent with the
t financial statements; and



the direectors’ reportt has been prrepared in acccordance wiith the Maltese Companiees Act (Cap. 386).
3

In addition,, in light of the
t knowledg
ge and underrstanding of the company
y and its envvironment ob
btained in
the course of the auditt, we are req
quired to rep
port if we have
h
identifie
ed material misstatemen
nts in the
directors’ reeport and oth
her informattion that we oobtained prior to the date of this aud
ditor’s report. We have
nothing to rreport in thiss regard.
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When we reead the Chairrman’s message and the Chief Executtive Officer’ss Review, if w
we conclude that there
is a materiaal misstatem
ment therein, we are req
quired to com
mmunicate the
t matter tto those charged with
governance.

Responsib
bilities of the directo
ors and th
hose charg
ged with governancee for the financial
f
statementts
The directo
ors are responsible for th
he preparatioon of financial statementts that give a true and fa
air view in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU aand the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
386), and ffor such inteernal controll as the direcctors determ
mine is necesssary to enabble the prepa
aration of
financial staatements tha
at are free fro
om material m
misstatemen
nt, whether due
d to fraud oor error.
In preparin
ng the financcial statemen
nts, the direct
ctors are resp
ponsible for assessing thee company’ss ability to
continue ass a going concern, disclo
osing, as app
plicable, ma
atters related
d to going cooncern and using the
going conceern basis of accounting
a
unless
u
the diirectors eitheer intend to liquidate
l
thee company or
o to cease
operations, or have no realistic
r
alterrnative but too do so.
Those chargged with governance are responsible ffor overseein
ng the compa
any’s financiaal reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the
t audit of the finan
ncial statem
ments
Our objectivves are to ob
btain reasonable assuran
nce about wh
hether the fin
nancial stateements as a whole
w
are
free from m
material misstatement, whether
w
duee to fraud orr error, and to issue an auditor’s re
eport that
includes ou
ur opinion. Reasonable
R
assurance
a
is a high levell of assuranc
ce, but is noot a guarante
ee that an
audit condu
ucted in acccordance witth ISAs willl always dettect a materrial misstateement when it exists.
Misstatemeents can arisse from frau
ud or error and are co
onsidered material
m
if, in
ndividually or in the
aggregate, tthey could reeasonably be
e expected too influence the
t economiic decisions of users taken on the
basis of thesse financial statements.
s
As part of an audit in acccordance with ISAs, we eexercise proffessional judg
gement and maintain pro
ofessional
scepticism tthroughout the
t audit. We
e also:


misstatementt of the financial statem
ments, wheth
her due to
Identifyy and assesss the risks of material m
fraud o
or error, dessign and perrform audit procedures responsive to those rissks, and obttain audit
evidencce that is suffficient and appropriate too provide a basis
b
for our opinion. Th
he risk of not detecting
a materrial misstatem
ment resultin
ng from frau
ud is higher th
han for one resulting
r
froom error, as fraud
f
may
involve collusion, forgery,
f
inte
entional om
missions, missrepresentations, or the override off internal
control..



Obtain an understa
anding of inte
ernal controll relevant to the audit in
n order to deesign audit procedures
that aree appropriatte in the circcumstances, but not for the purpose
e of expressiing an opinio
on on the
effectiveeness of the company’s in
nternal contrrol.



Evaluatte the appro
opriateness of accountin
ng policies used and th
he reasonabbleness of accounting
estimattes and relateed disclosure
es made by th
he directors.
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To the Sharreholders of Tigné
T
Mall p.l.c.


de on the ap
ppropriateness of the dirrectors’ use of
o the going concern bassis of accoun
nting and,
Conclud
based o
on the auditt evidence obtained,
o
wh
hether a matterial uncerttainty existss related to events or
conditio
ons that mayy cast significant doubt oon the compa
any’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we concclude that a material un
ncertainty exxists, we aree required to
o draw atten
ntion in ourr auditor’s
report tto the related
d disclosuress in the finan
ncial statem
ments or, if su
uch disclosurres are inade
equate, to
modify our opinion
n. Our conclu
usions are baased on the audit eviden
nce obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. Ho
owever, futurre events or cconditions may
m cause the
e company to cease to co
ontinue as
a going concern.



Evaluatte the overalll presentation, structurre and conteent of the fin
nancial stateements, inclu
uding the
disclosu
ures, and wh
hether the fin
nancial statem
ments repressent the und
derlying transsactions and
d events in
a mann
ner that achieeves fair pressentation.

We commu
unicate with those
t
charge
ed with goverrnance regarrding, among
g other matteers, the plann
ned scope
and timing of the auditt and signifiicant audit ffindings, inclluding any significant
s
deeficiencies in
n internal
control thatt we identify during our audit.
a
We also pro
ovide those charged witth governancce with a sta
atement thatt we have coomplied with
h relevant
ethical requ
uirements regarding inde
ependence, aand to comm
municate with
h them all reelationships and other
matters thaat may reaso
onably be th
hought to beear on our independenc
i
ce, and wheere applicablle, related
safeguards.
From the m
matters comm
municated with
w
those ch
harged with governance, we determin
ne those ma
atters that
were of most significance in the aud
dit of the fin
nancial statem
ments of the
e current perriod and are therefore
the key aud
dit matters. We
W describe these
t
matterss in our audiitor’s report unless law orr regulation precludes
public discllosure about the matter or
o when, in eextremely ra
are circumsta
ances, we deetermine thatt a matter
should nott be commu
unicated in our report because thee adverse consequencess of doing so would
reasonably b
be expected to outweigh the public in
nterest beneffits of such co
ommunicatioon.

Report o
on other legal
l
and
d regulato
ory requiirements
Report on
n the statem
ment of com
mpliance w
with the Prrinciples off Good Corrporate
Governan
nce
The Listingg Rules issueed by the Ma
alta Listing A
Authority reequire the directors to prrepare and include
i
in
their Annuaal Report a Statement
S
of Compliance providing an
n explanation of the exteent to which they have
adopted thee Code of Principles of Good
G
Corporaate Governance and the effective meeasures that they have
taken to enssure complia
ance through
hout the acco unting perio
od with those
e Principles.
The Listing Rules also require
r
the au
uditor to incclude a reporrt on the Stattement of Coompliance prepared by
the directorrs.
We read thee Statement of Complian
nce and cons ider the imp
plications forr our report iif we become
e aware of
any appareent misstatem
ments or ma
aterial incon
nsistencies with
w
the fina
ancial statem
ments includ
ded in the
Annual Rep
port. Our reesponsibilitie
es do not exxtend to considering whe
ether this sttatement is consistent
c
with any oth
her informattion included
d in the Annu
ual Report.
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Indepen
ndent au
uditor’s report - continued
To the Sharreholders of Tigné
T
Mall p.l.c.
We are nott required to
o, and we do
d not, consiider whether the Board’s statementts on interna
al control
included in
n the Statem
ment of Com
mpliance covver all riskss and controls, or form
m an opinio
on on the
effectivenesss of the com
mpany’s corpo
orate governaance procedu
ures or its rissk and controol procedure
es.
In our opin
nion, the Sta
atement of Compliance
C
set out on pages
p
6 to 15
1 has been properly prepared in
accordance with the req
quirements of the Listing Rules issued
d by the Maltta Listing Au
uthority.

Other ma
atters on which
w
we arre required
d to reportt by excepttion
We also haave responsib
bilities unde
er the Maltesse Companies Act (Cap.. 386) to repport to you if, in our
opinion:


Adequaate accountin
ng records ha
ave not been kept, or thatt returns ade
equate for ou
ur audit have
e not been
received
d from brancches not visitted by us.



The finaancial statem
ments are nott in agreemen
nt with the accounting
a
re
ecords and reeturns.



We havve not receiveed all the info
ormation and
d explanation
ns we require for our aud
dit.



Certain disclosuress of directors’ remunerration speciffied by law are not m
made in the financial
statemeents, giving the required particulars
p
in
n our report..

We have no
othing to repo
ort to you in respect of th
hese responsiibilities.
Pricewate
erhouseCoo
opers
78, Mill Streeet
Qormi
Malta

David Valen
nzia
Partner
6 April 20177
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December
Notes

2016
€

2015
€

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

61,756,192

63,201,000

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

5
6

2,233,962
867,784

2,128,676
706,581

3,101,746

2,835,257

64,857,938

66,036,257

27,766,888
5,749,064
2,207,070

27,766,888
5,817,505
1,502,178

35,723,022

35,086,571

726,391
19,977,566
5,425,729

697,282
21,669,416
5,323,158

26,129,686

27,689,856

2,829,659
175,571

2,920,480
339,350

3,005,230

3,259,830

Total liabilities

29,134,916

30,949,686

Total equity and liabilities

64,857,938

66,036,257

Total current assets
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings

7
8

Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

9
10
11

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities

9

The notes on pages 29 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 25 to 50 were authorised for issue by the Board on Date and were
signed on its behalf by:

Joseph Zammit Tabona
Chairman

David Demarco
Director
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Income Statement
Year ended 31 December
Notes

2016
€

2015
€

Revenue
Cost of sales

12
13

5,917,120
(1,616,345)

5,699,723
(1,512,641)

Gross profit
Administrative and other expenses

13

4,300,775
(418,973)

4,187,082
(362,505)

Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs

15
16

3,881,802
3,446
(826,663)

3,824,577
2,162
(961,128)

Profit before tax
Tax expense

17

3,058,585
(1,012,134)

2,865,611
(1,211,718)

2,046,451

1,653,893

3.63

2.93

Profit for the year
Earnings per share (Euro cents)

19

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December
Note

2016
€

2015
€

2,046,451

1,653,893

-

5,817,505

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

-

5,817,505

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

2,046,451

7,471,398

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation surplus on land and buildings
arising during the year, net of deferred tax

8

The notes on pages 29 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
Share
capital

Revaluation
reserve

Retained
earnings

Total

€

€

€

€

27,766,888

-

1,117,285

28,884,173

-

-

1,653,893

1,653,893

-

5,817,505

-

5,817,505

Total comprehensive income

-

5,817,505

1,653,893

7,471,398

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid to shareholders

-

-

(1,269,000)

(1,269,000)

Total transactions with owners

-

-

(1,269,000)

(1,269,000)

Balance as at 31 December 2015

27,766,888

5,817,505

1,502,178

35,086,571

Balance at 1 January 2016

27,766,888

5,817,505

1,502,178

35,086,571

-

-

2,046,451

2,046,451

Note

Balance at 1 January 2015
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Other Comprehensive income:
Revaluation surplus on land and
buildings arising during the year,
net of deferred tax

8

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
- total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners
Dividends paid to shareholders
Other movements net of tax
Total transactions with owners
Balance as at 31 December 2016

8

-

(68,441)

(1,410,000)
68,441

(1,410,000)
-

-

(68,441)

(1,341,559)

(1,410,000)

2,207,070

35,723,022

27,766,888

5,749,064

The notes on pages 29 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December
Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Interest received
Tax paid

20
15

2016
€

5,174,450
(535,222)
3,446
(1,073,343)

5,187,118
(961,128)
2,162
(1,015,479)

3,569,331

3,212,673

Net cash generated from operations

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

4

(14,838)

(138,738)

(14,838)

(138,738)

(1,410,000)
(1,983,290)

(1,269,000)
(2,037,740)

(3,393,290)

(3,306,740)

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid
Repayment of bank borrowings

23
10

Cash used in financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2015
€

6

161,203
706,581

(232,805)
939,386

867,784

706,581

The notes on pages 29 to 50 are an integral part of these financial statements.

28

TIGNÉ MALL p.l.c.
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2016

Notes to the financial statements
1.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
1.1 Basis of preparation
Tigné Mall p.l.c. is a public limited liability company with its principal activity being to own and
manage 'The Point Shopping Mall'.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and with the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act
(Cap. 386). They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the fair
valuation of the land and buildings class of property, plant and equipment.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires
the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires Directors to exercise their judgement in
the process of applying the company’s accounting policies (see Note 3 - Critical accounting
estimates and judgements).
As at 31 December 2016, the company’s current assets exceeded its current liabilities by €96,516
(2015: deficiency of €424,573). The company has managed to address the deficiency during the
course of the year through a programme of active liquidity management. This has also enabled
the company to anticipate its bank repayment commitments. The Directors continue to adopt the
going concern assumption in the preparation of the company’s financial statements. In the opinion
of the Directors, taking cognisance of the short-term funding arrangements together with the longterm liquidity and capital management programmes, there is no material uncertainty which may
cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue operating as a going concern.
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2016
In 2016, the company adopted new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are mandatory for the company’s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2016.
These standards, amendments and interpretations which are effective for the financial year
beginning on 1 January 2016 are not material to the company.
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet adopted
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been
published by the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for
the company’s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2016, including IFRS 9, ‘Financial
instruments’ and IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’.
The company has not early adopted these revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by
the EU, and the company’s Directors are of the opinion that there are no requirements that will
have a possible significant impact on the company’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.2 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in these financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial
statements are presented in euro, which is the company’s functional and presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
1.3 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at historical cost. Land and buildings,
comprising mainly ‘The Point Shopping Mall’, are shown at fair value less subsequent
depreciation. The fair value of ‘The Point Shopping Mall’ is based on the discounted cash flows
valuation model prepared by management. Valuations are carried out on a regular basis such that
the carrying amount of property does not differ materially from that which would be determined
using fair values at the end of the reporting period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of
revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is
restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a qualifying
asset are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or
construction is actively underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset is
substantially complete, and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income and shown as a revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity. Decreases
that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged in other comprehensive income and
debited against the revaluation reserve directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to profit
or loss. Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of
the asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost is transferred
from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.3 Property, plant and equipment - continued
Land and buildings are depreciated over the remaining term of the emphyteusis. Depreciation on
other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts
to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Electrical and plumbing installations
Plant, machinery and operational equipment
Fixtures and fittings
Office and computer equipment

%
3-8
3 - 15
2 - 15
10 - 33.33

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1.4).
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss. When the revalued assets are
sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to the assets are transferred to
retained earnings.
1.4 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
1.5 Financial assets
1.5.1 Classification
The company classifies its financial assets in the loans and receivables category. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. Loans and receivables are
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise when the company provides money, goods or services directly to a
debtor with no intention of trading the asset. They are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than twelve months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified
as non-current assets. The company’s loans and receivables comprise trade and other
receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position (Notes 1.6 and
1.7).
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.5 Financial assets - continued
1.5.2 Recognition and measurement
The company recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on settlement date, which is the date on which an asset is delivered to or by
the company. Any change in fair value for the asset to be received is recognised between the
trade date and settlement date in respect of assets which are carried at fair value in accordance
with the measurement rules applicable to the respective financial assets.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is the initial measurement
amount adjusted for the amortisation of any difference between the initial and maturity amounts
using the effective interest method.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the company has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership or has not retained control of the asset.
1.5.3 Impairment
The company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The
company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists. The criteria that the
company uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
• it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying amount is reduced and the amount of the loss
is recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.6 Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the
company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered
indicators that the receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.
1.7 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value. In the
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand and deposits held at
call with banks.
1.8 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
1.9 Financial liabilities
The company recognises a financial liability in its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The company’s financial liabilities are
classified as financial liabilities which are not at fair value through profit or loss (classified as ‘Other
liabilities’) under IAS 39. Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The company derecognises a financial liability from its
statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract or arrangement is
discharged, is cancelled or expires.
1.10 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Accounts payable are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.
1.11 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.12 Current and deferred tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively.
Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
the deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting, nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
1.13 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods
and services in the ordinary course of the company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of sales
taxes, rebates and discounts.
The company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been
met as set out below.
Revenue from services is generally recognised in the period during which the services are
provided, based on the services performed to date as a percentage of the total services to be
performed. Accordingly, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
transaction under the percentage of completion method.
Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
1.14 Operating leases
(a) Where the company is a lessee
Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risk and rewards of ownership are effectively
retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(b) Where the company is a lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment in the
statement of financial position and are accounted for in accordance with Note 1.3. They are
depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned assets.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the
lease term.
34

TIGNÉ MALL p.l.c.
Annual Report and Financial Statements - 31 December 2016

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies - continued
1.15 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s
shareholders.

2.

Financial risk management
2.1 Financial risk factors
The company’s activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The company’s overall risk management, focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. The
company’s board of Directors provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies
covering risks referred to above and specific areas such as investment of excess liquidity. The
company did not make use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures
during the current and preceding financial years.
(a) Market risk
(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The company’s revenues and operating expenditure together with its financial assets and
liabilities, including financing, are predominantly denominated in euro. Accordingly, the company is
not significantly exposed to foreign exchange risk. A sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk
disclosing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in foreign exchange
rates that were reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period is not deemed necessary.
(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The company’s significant instruments which are subject to fixed interest rates comprise the
deposits effected under operating lease arrangements. In this respect, the company is potentially
exposed to fair value interest rate risk in view of the fixed interest nature of these instruments,
which are however measured at amortised cost and therefore any changes in interest rates will not
have an effect on profit or loss and equity. The company’s cash flow interest rate risk principally
arises from bank borrowings issued at variable rates (Note 10). Management monitors the impact
of changes in market interest rates on amounts reported in the income statement in respect of
these instruments. Based on this analysis, management considers the potential impact on profit or
loss of a defined interest rate shift that is reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period to
be immaterial. The company’s operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates and accordingly the level of interest rate risk is contained.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) and trade and other receivables (Note
5), which constitute the company’s loans and receivables category for IAS 39 categorisation
purposes. The company’s exposures to credit risk are analysed in the respective note to the
financial statements. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in
respect of these financial assets is equivalent to their carrying amount. The company does not
hold any collateral as security in this respect.
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2.

Financial risk management - continued
2.1 Financial risk factors – continued
(b) Credit risk - continued
The company banks only with local financial institutions with high quality standard or rating. The
company invoices its customers quarterly in advance and assesses the credit quality of its
customers taking into account financial position, past experience and other factors. It has policies
in place to ensure that sales of services are affected to customers with an appropriate credit
history. The company monitors the performance of its receivables on a regular basis to identify
incurred collection losses, which are inherent in the company’s receivables, taking into account
historical experience in collection of accounts receivable. Management does not expect any
material losses from non-performance by its debtors except as outlined below.
As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables of €43,739 (2015: NIL) were deemed to be long
outstanding and on which a provision of €15,309 (2015: NIL) was being accounted for, in line with
the company’s policy. The impaired receivables relate to customers who are not meeting the
repayment obligations. It was assessed that a significant portion of the impaired receivable has
nonetheless been recovered during 2017.
As at the end of the reporting period, the company had past due, but not impaired, receivables
amounting to €92,434 (2015: €111,143). The company manages credit exposures actively in a
practicable manner such that past due amounts receivable from customers are within controlled
parameters. The company’s trade receivables, which are not impaired financial assets, are
principally debts in respect of transactions with customers for whom there is no recent history of
default. Management does not expect any losses from non-performance by these customers.
In view of the nature of the company’s activities from the shopping mall, a limited number of
customers account for a certain percentage of the entity’s trade receivables (refer to Note 12).
The company’s receivables include amounts owed by related parties. Management monitors
related party credit exposures at individual entity level and ensures timely performance in the
context of overall liquidity management. The company takes cognisance of the related party
relationship with these debtors and management does not expect any losses from nonperformance or default.
(c) Liquidity risk
The company is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its
financial liabilities, which comprise interest-bearing borrowings (Note 10) and trade and other
payables (Note 9). Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and
committed credit lines to ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the
company’s obligations.
Management monitors liquidity risk by means of cash flow forecasts on the basis of expected cash
flows from operation of the 'The Point Shopping Mall'. This includes reviewing the matching or
otherwise of expected cash inflows and outflows arising from expected maturities of financial
instruments. On the basis of the forecasts, management ensures that no additional financing
facilities are expected to be required.
As at 31 December 2016, the company’s current assets exceeded its current liabilities by €96,516
(2015: deficiency of €424,573). The company has managed to address the deficiency during the
course of the year through a programme of active liquidity management. This has also enabled
the company to anticipate its bank repayment commitments.
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2.

Financial risk management - continued
2.1 Financial risk factors – continued
(c) Liquidity risk - continued
The company’s trade and other payables with the exception of certain liabilities (Note 9) are
entirely repayable within one year from the end of the reporting period. The following table
analyses the company’s borrowings and deposits arising under operating leases classified as
other payables into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Carrying
amount
€

Less than
1 year
€

Between 1
and 2
€

Between 2
and 5 years
€

Over
5 years
€

Total
€

726,391
19,977,566

888,004

73,597
954,111

442,564
6,808,500

340,701
17,716,286

856,862
26,366,901

20,703,957

888,004

1,027,708

7,251,064

18,056,987

27,223,763

31 December 2016

Other payables
Borrowings

31 December 2015

Other payables
Borrowings

697,282
21,669,416

944,975

1,300
1,264,465

377,002
6,808,500

485,720
19,985,786

864,022
29,003,726

22,366,698

944,975

1,265,765

7,185,502

20,471,506

29,867,748

2.2 Capital risk management
The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the company may issue new shares or adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders.
The company’s equity, as disclosed in the statement of financial position, constitutes its capital.
The company maintains the level of capital by reference to its financial obligations and
commitments arising from operational requirements. The adequacy of the company’s capital level
as at the end of the reporting period is reviewed in the context of the nature of the company’s
activities and the extent of borrowings or debt.
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2.

Financial risk management - continued

2.3 Fair values of financial instruments
The company is required to disclose fair value measurements and disclosures by level of a fair
value measurement hierarchy for financial instruments (Level 1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the
fair value hierarchy are defined as fair values using:


Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).



Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability either directly i.e. as prices, or indirectly i.e. derived from prices (Level 2).



Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data i.e. unobservable
inputs (Level 3).

At 31 December 2016 and 2015 the carrying amounts of financial instruments, comprising cash at
bank, receivables, payables, accrued expenses and short-term borrowings is equivalent to their
fair values in view of the nature of the instruments or their short-term maturity. The fair value of the
non-current financial liabilities comprising borrowings for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to
the Company for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair value of the company’s bank
borrowings (Note 10) as at the end of the reporting period is not materially different from the
carrying amounts. The current market interest rates utilised for discounting purposes, which were
almost equivalent to the respective instruments’ contractual interest rates, are deemed observable
and accordingly these fair value estimates have been categorised as Level 2.

3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
In the opinion of the Directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which
would warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1.
As referred to in Note 4 to the financial statements, the company’s land and buildings category of
property, plant and equipment is fair valued on 31 December on the basis a model based on
discounted cash flows, and which applies a number of assumptions, namely the growth rate and
the discount rate.
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4.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and
buildings
€

Plant and
Office
other equipment,
integral
furniture
assets and fittings
€
€

Total
€

At 1 January 2015
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

42,347,826 16,395,585 1,616,076 60,359,487
(1,152,113) (3,360,479) (381,119) (4,893,711)

Net book amount

41,195,713

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Revaluation surplus arising during the year
Depreciation charge

41,195,713 13,035,106 1,234,957 55,465,776
138,738
121,841
16,897
8,950,008
8,950,008
(676,363)
(594,144)
(83,015) (1,353,522)

Closing net book amount

49,673,418

12,358,743

At 31 December 2015
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

49,673,418
-

16,395,585 1,632,973 67,701,976
(4,036,842) (464,134) (4,500,976)

Net book amount

49,673,418

12,358,743

Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge

49,673,418 12,358,743 1,168,839 63,201,000
14,838
12,100
2,738
(675,492)
(1,459,646)
(700,766)
(83,388)

Closing net book amount

48,975,390

11,683,251

1,097,551

61,756,192

At 31 December 2016
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

49,676,156
(700,766)

16,395,585
(4,712,334)

1,645,073
(547,522)

67,716,814
(5,960,622)

Net book amount

48,975,390

11,683,251

1,097,551

61,756,192

13,035,106

1,234,957

1,168,839

1,168,839

55,465,776

63,201,000

63,201,000

The company operates The Point Shopping Mall, a fully serviced shopping mall, which activity
extends beyond the mere leasing out of retail space. The extent of the services provided is deemed
to be significant to the arrangement with the tenants as a whole. Accordingly the shopping mall is
treated as property, plant and equipment under the requirements of IAS 16 rather than investment
property under IAS 40.
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4.

Property, plant and equipment - continued
MIDI p.l.c. had granted the Property to the company by title of temporary sub-emphyteusis in
October 2010, commencing from the date of the grant, for the remaining period out of the original
period of 99 years which commenced from 15 June 2000. The annual sub-ground rent consists of
a proportionate part of the original annual ground rent together with an increase of ground rent
payable to MIDI p.l.c. The increase of ground rent payable to MIDI p.l.c. is a nominal amount.
The proportionate part pertaining to the Property out of the original annual ground rent imposed on
all of the land granted by the Emphyteutical Deed is currently €76,000. This original ground rent
will increase in accordance with the terms of the Emphyteutical Deed on 1 April 2025 and on 1
April 2050. As security for the payment of the sub-ground rent and its proportionate share of the
original ground rent, the company granted to MIDI p.l.c. a general hypothec on all its property
present and future in general and a special privilege on the Property.
Bank borrowings are secured on the company’s property, plant and equipment (Note 10).
Fair value of land and buildings
The Company is required to analyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by level of the fair
value hierarchy within which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety
(Level 1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined as fair value
measurements using:




Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);
Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (Level 3).

The recurring property fair value measurement, in relation to The Point Shopping Mall, uses
significant unobservable inputs and is accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation
hierarchy.
The company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers between different levels of the fair
value hierarchy during the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
A reconciliation of the opening balance to the closing balance of non-financial assets for recurring
fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the value hierarchy, is reflected in the table
above. The only movements reflect additions, revaluations and depreciation charge for the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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4.

Property, plant and equipment - continued
Valuation processes
The valuation of the property is performed regularly on the basis of a model using the discounted
cash flows. At the end of every reporting period, the CEO (Chief Executive Officer) and the
Financial Controller assess whether any significant changes in actual circumstances, projected
and registered income streams, results and developments have been experienced since the last
external valuation. The CEO and the Financial Controller report to the audit committee on the
outcome of this assessment.
The valuation model and the underlying inputs and the assumptions are reviewed by the CEO and
the Financial Controller. When the CEO and the Financial Controller consider that the valuation
model and the underlying inputs and the assumptions are appropriate, the valuation model is
recommended to the audit committee. The audit committee considers the valuation model as part
of its overall responsibilities.
As of 31 December 2015, management has updated the valuation of The Point Shopping Mall that
had been prepared in 2012, principally by reassessing future cash flows in order to reflect the
current operating results and future prospects of the business, taking account of the current tenant
rental schedules. Discount rate assumptions have also been updated, primarily to reflect
movements in current market conditions and yields
The book value of property has been adjusted to the revalued amount and the resultant surplus,
net of applicable deferred taxes, has been credited to the revaluation reserve in shareholders’
equity.
In 2016, following the conclusion of the process described above, the valuation and key
assumptions underlying the valuation model have been deemed to be consistent with those
prevailing at 31 December 2015.
Valuation techniques
The Level 3 fair valuation of The Point Shopping Mall was determined using discounted cash flow
(“DCF”) projections based on significant unobservable inputs. These inputs include:
Earnings before interest, based on contracted and projected rental income streams covering the
tax, depreciation and
remaining term of the sub-emphyteusis less operating expenditure
amortisation (EBITDA)
necessary to manage the shopping mall, comprising mainly marketing,
maintenance and similar expenses but prior to depreciation and financing
charges;
Growth rate

based on management’s estimated average growth of the company’s
EBITDA levels over the remaining term of the sub-emphyteusis, mainly
determined by contractual and projected growth in rental income
streams;

Discount rate

reflecting the current market assessment of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of projected cash flows. The discount rate reflects the
estimated weighted average cost of capital that would be available to a
REO for financing such an operation. The discount rate is based on an
assumed debt to equity ratio; estimation of cost of equity is based on risk
free interest rates adjusted for country risk and equity risk premium
adjusted for entity-specific risk factor; estimation of cost of debt is based
on risk free interest rates adjusted for country risk and assumed credit
spread.
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4.

Property, plant and equipment - continued

Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)
The significant unobservable inputs applied in the property valuation are the following:
- Projected EBITDA for 2017 estimated at the level of €5.44 million;
- Growth rate at an approximate average of 3% reflecting principally the estimated projected
growth of the Company’s rental income streams;
- A discount rate of 7.7% applied in estimating the net present value of the projected future cash
flows.
An increase in the projected levels of EBITDA and growth rate would result in an increased fair
value of the property, whereas a higher discount rate would give rise to a lower fair value.
Historical cost of land and buildings
If the land and buildings were stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows:
2015
€

2016
€

5.

Cost
Accumulated depreciation

42,767,981
(4,236,737)

42,765,243
(3,659,105)

Net book amount

38,531,244

39,106,138

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables - net of provisions for impairment
Trade receivables in respect of billing in advance
Prepayments and accrued income

2016
€

2015
€

115,824
1,484,670
633,468

116,482
1,487,907
524,287

2,233,962

2,128,676

Provisions for impairment as at 31 December 2016 amounted to €15,309 (2015: NIL).
Prepayments include an amount of €252,500 representing an amount paid by the company in
respect of a termination of a lease contract of one of the outlets in the context of investment plans
being contemplated by the company. The directors believe that no impairment trigger arises in
view of the fact that the outlet is now being leased out on a short-term basis, and that the amount
paid will be capitalised once the investment plans are crystallised.
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6.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
following:

Cash at bank and in hand

7.

2016
€

2015
€

867,784

706,581

Share capital
2016
€

2015
€

Authorised
60,000,000 ordinary shares of €0.50 each

30,000,000

30,000,000

Issued
56,400,000 ordinary shares of €0.50 each, fully paid up

27,766,888

27,766,888

The authorised share capital of the company amounts to €30,000,000 made up of 60,000,000
ordinary shares of €0.50 each. The amount presented in the statement of financial position in
relation to issued share capital is net of share issue expenses amounting to €433,112.
In accordance with the company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, each ordinary share
gives the right to one voting right, participates equally in profits distributed by the company and
carries equal rights.

8.

Revaluation reserve

Revaluation of land and buildings
At beginning of year
Revaluation surplus arising during the year
Deferred income taxes on revaluation surplus
arising during the year
Transfer to retained earnings
At end of year

2016
€

2015
€

5,817,505
-

8,950,008

(68,441)
5,749,064

(3,132,503)
5,817,505

The tax impact relating to components of other comprehensive income is presented in the table
above. The revaluation reserve is non-distributable.
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9.

Trade and other payables

Current
Trade payables
Payables in respect of capital expenditure
Other payables
Indirect taxation
Accruals and other deferred income
Deferred income in respect of billing in advance

Non-current
Other payables

2016
€

2015
€

116,266
21,434
289,670
517,187
404,366
1,480,736

92,424
24,384
285,568
514,708
520,229
1,483,167

2,829,659

2,920,480

726,391

697,282

Non-current other payables represent deposits affected under operating lease arrangements by a
number of tenants at ‘The Point Shopping Mall’. These amounts are refundable at the end of the
lease term and are subject to interest not exceeding 3% per annum. Amounts owed to related
parties in this respect are disclosed in Note 21.

10.

Borrowings
2016
€

2015
€

Non-current
Bank loans

19,977,566

21,669,416

Total borrowings

19,977,566

21,669,416

The company’s banking facilities as at 31 December 2016 amounted to €19,977,566 (2015:
€21,669,416). Bank borrowings are secured by a general hypothec over all the company’s assets
and by a special hypothec for the amount of €33.5 million over the temporary sub utile dominium of
99 years which commenced on 15 June 2000 over the parcel of land developed into the shopping
mall.
As at 31 December 2016 the company had prepaid an amount of €2,696,885 (2015: €2,329,560)
in excess of the scheduled bank loan repayments. This excess is deemed to fulfil the contracted
repayments scheduled for 2017.
The company’s bank borrowings are subject to floating interest rates.
The weighted effective interest rates as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Bank loans

2016

2015

3.9%

4.11%
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10.

Borrowings - continued

Maturity of bank borrowings:
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
Over five years

11.

2016
€

2015
€

122,795
4,676,352
15,178,419

376,461
4,492,025
16,800,930

19,977,566

21,669,416

Deferred taxation
Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using
a principal tax rate of 35% (2015: 35%). The movement on the deferred income tax account is
analysed as follows:

At beginning of year
Tax relating to components of other
comprehensive income:
- revaluation of land and buildings (Note 8)
Charged to profit or loss:
- differences between depreciation and capital
allowances on property, plant and equipment (Note 17)
At end of year

2016
€

2015
€

5,323,158

1,906,818

-

3,132,503

102,571

283,837

5,425,729

5,323,158

2016
€

2015
€

3,697,850

3,697,850

1,727,879

1,625,308

5,425,729

5,323,158

The deferred tax liability as at 31 December represents:

Temporary differences arising on fair valuation of property
Temporary differences arising between tax base and
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment

The recognised deferred tax liabilities are expected to be settled principally after more than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.
12.

Revenue
The company’s revenue was principally derived from operating lease rental income attributable to
retail outlets in 'The Point Shopping Mall' together with the provision of related services, which
operation constitutes the sole operating segment of the company. Revenues from transactions
with four customers, amount to €769,448 (2015: €705,808), €647,447 (2015: €701,245), €643,395
(2015: €625,846) and €640,946 (2015: €474,034), each representing more than 10% of the
company’s revenues. Variable rents linked to tenant sales performance recognised in profit during
the current financial year amounted to €307,446 (2015: €396,235).
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13.

Expenses by nature
2016
€

2015
€

Employee benefit expense (Note 14)
Directors’ fees (Note 18)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 4)
Advertising and business promotion expenses
Ground rent
Service charge expenditure - shortfall
Other expenses

76,511
68,230
1,459,646
80,000
76,000
80,700
194,231

78,366
60,204
1,353,522
80,000
76,000
83,119
143,935

Total cost of sales and administrative and other expenses

2,035,318

1,875,146

Motor vehicle operating lease charges and similar expenses, prior to amounts recharged to
tenants as service charges, recognised in profit and loss during the current financial year
amounted to €24,758 (2015: 22,882).
Auditor’s fees
Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered relate to the following:

Annual statutory audit
Other non-audit services
Tax compliance

14.

2016
€

2015
€

10,000
7,260
590

10,000
6,095
530

17,850

16,625

2016
€

2015
€

224,635
11,901
385

218,325
12,761
213

236,921
(160,410)

231,299
(152,933)

76,511

78,366

Employee benefit expense

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Maternity Fund contribution

Less amounts recharged to tenants as service charges

Average number of persons employed by the company during the year:

Operational
Administration

2016

2015

2
4

2
4

6

6
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15.

Finance income

Interest charged to debtors on overdue balances

16.

2015
€

3,446

2,162

3,446

2,162

2016
€

2015
€

802,817
23,168
678

919,784
29,790
11,554

826,663

961,128

2016
€

2015
€

909,563
102,571

927,881
283,837

1,012,134

1,211,718

Finance costs

Bank interest payable
Interest on tenant deposits
Other charges

17.

2016
€

Tax expense

Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense (Note 11)

The tax on the company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the basic tax rate applicable as follows:
2016
€

2015
€

Profit before tax

3,058,585

2,865,611

Tax on profit at 35%

1,070,505

1,002,964

Tax effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Other adjustments
Application of the tax rules applicable to leasing of
commercial tenements
Tax expense

210,621
(268,992)
1,012,134

210,761
(2,007)
1,211,718

During March 2016, the Budget Measures Implementation Act, 2016 (ACT No. XV of 2016) came
into effect. Through this legislation, landlords were granted the option of taxing rental income,
derived from the leasing of any tenement including commercial and clubs, at a final withholding tax
at a rate of 15% on the gross rental income. The substance of the change in legislation is that
although the company continues to be subject to income tax at the corporate tax rate of 35%, the
effective tax rate in any given year is reduced to a lower rate if a lower tax charge is produced by
multiplying the gross rental income by 15%.
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18.

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ fees

19.

2016
€

2015
€

68,230

60,204

2016

2015

€ 2,046,451
56,400,000
3.63

€ 1,653,893
56,400,000
2.93

Earnings per share

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the company
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Earnings per share (Euro cents)

The Company has no instruments or arrangements which give rise to dilutive potential ordinary
shares, and accordingly diluted earnings per share is equivalent to basic earnings per share.

20.

Cash generated from operations
Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations:
2016
€

2015
€

Operating profit

3,881,802

3,824,577

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 4)
Movement in provision for doubtful debts

1,459,646
15,309

1,353,522
(31,025)

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

(120,595)
(61,712)
5,174,450

(230,182)
270,226
5,187,118
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21.

Commitments
Operating lease commitments - where the company is a lessor
The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases entered
into by the company in relation to operations from The Point Shopping Mall are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

2016
€

2015
€

5,623,801
15,446,549
8,493,338

5,423,925
17,329,225
9,374,342

29,563,688

32,127,492

The operating lease agreements entered into by the company with the tenants of the shopping mall
typically run for a significant number of years. These contracts generally provide that the lease
payments increase by a predetermined percentage every year, which increases have been
reflected in the figures above. A significant number of these arrangements also provide for
contingent rentals based on outlet turnover levels.
Operating lease commitments - where the company is a lessee
The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable motor vehicle operating leases
and minimum payments under similar arrangements (maintenance services) are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

2016
€

2015
€

9,540
18,651
-

22,882
30,210
-

28,191

53,092

The company has other commitments as referred to in Notes 4 and 21.
22.

Related party transactions
Mapfre MSV Life p.l.c., HSBC Life Assurance Ltd and Bank of Valletta p.l.c., by virtue of the extent
of their shareholding in the company, are considered to be related parties. All companies owned
or controlled by these entities, together with all companies forming part of the same group
companies of which the shareholders form part, are also deemed to be related parties.
Tigné Mall p.l.c.’s Directors, close members of their families and all entities owned or controlled by
these individuals, are considered to be related parties of Tigné Mall p.l.c.
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22.

Related party transactions - continued

Principal balances held with parties considered as related parties
31 December

Bank borrowings

2016
€

2015
€

19,977,566

21,669,416

Principal transactions with parties considered as related parties
Year ended 31 December

Bank interest payable
Rental income

2016
€

2015
€

802,817
21,525

919,784
20,609

The company also enters into other transactions with other related parties, such as the placement
of insurance risks, but the related transaction amounts are not considered to have a material
impact on the financial results and financial position of the company.
In the opinion of the Directors, all related party transactions have been carried out on an arm’s
length basis taking cognisance of normal commercial terms.

23.

Dividend
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 of €0.0125 (2015: €0.0125) per share,
amounting to €705,000 (2015: €705,000) was proposed by the Board of Directors subsequent to
the end of the reporting period. The financial statements do not reflect the dividend proposed after
31 December 2016. During the year, the company paid an interim dividend of €705,000 (€0.0125
per share).

24.

Statutory information
Tigné Mall p.l.c. is a public limited company and is domiciled and incorporated in Malta.
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